Supreme Court No. 14464-0-I (Court of Appeals No. 74464-0-I Consolidated with No. 74465-8-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PUGET SOUND ENERGY, INC.,

Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

ν.

EAST BELLEVUE COMMUNITY COUNCIL,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant,

and CITY OF BELLEVUE

Respondent.

EAST BELLEVUE COMMUNITY COUNCIL'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Kathleen J. Haggard, WSBA #29305 Andrea L. Bradford, WSBA #45748 Attorneys for East Bellevue Community Council

Porter Foster Rorick LLP Attorneys at Law 601 Union Street, Suite 800 Seattle, Washington 98101 Tel: (206) 622-0203

Fax: (206) 223-2003

I. INTRODUCTION AND IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

The East Bellevue Community Council (EBCC) is a community municipal corporation authorized by the state legislature to act as a final decision-maker for land use decisions affecting its territory, a neighborhood annexed by the City of Bellevue in 1969. The Court of Appeals decision undermines the statutory authority of the EBCC in two ways: first, it forecloses EBCC review of shoreline conditional use permits, and second, it fails to allow EBCC to exercise its discretion to determine that a Puget Sound Energy (PSE) electrical transmission line project, which would cut through EBCC's territory, was inconsistent with the City of Bellevue's comprehensive plan, which strongly emphasizes community character.

In creating community municipal corporations, the legislature deliberately gave these entities final decision-making authority over specific land use decisions, giving a voice to these neighborhoods that would survive annexation. Ch. 35.14 RCW. In this case, the EBCC, consistent with its statutory authority, appropriately made its voice heard by disapproving conditional use permits for PSE's transmission line.

The Court of Appeals, ruling as a matter of first impression, concluded EBCC did not have authority to disapprove PSE's shoreline conditional use permit. In a separate ruling, the Court of Appeals addressed

PSE's claim under the Land Use Petition Act (LUPA), ch. 36.70C RCW, that EBCC's disapproval of the land use conditional use permit was in error. While the superior court, Judge William Downing, appropriately recognized the EBCC's role by deferring to, and sustaining, the EBCC's decision, the Court of Appeals reversed the superior court in a decision that erroneously curtails local decision-making. The Court of Appeals applied the incorrect standard of review to EBCC's determinations under Bellevue Land Use Code (LUC) 20.30B.140.A and D, and in doing so, erroneously failed to defer to EBCC's balancing of the competing objectives of the comprehensive plan and its determination that the project would be materially detrimental to the community. *Puget Sound Energy v. E. Bellevue Cmty. Council*, No. 74464-0-I, at 6-7, 12, 14-15 (Wash. App. Jan. 30, 2017) ("Opinion"); Appendix A.

Both rulings of the Court of Appeals were in error, and involve issues of substantial public interest for this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4). In addition, to the extent these rulings fail to afford community municipal corporations a "significant role" in local land use decisions, they are inconsistent with *City of Bellevue v. E. Bellevue Cmty. Council*, 138 Wn.2d 937, 983 P.2d 602 (1999), warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Where the legislature has deliberately vested community municipal corporations with a significant role in local land use decisions, does the Court of Appeals' ruling that community municipal corporation lack authority to disapprove shoreline conditional use permits under RCW 35.14.040 conflict with a decision of this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and present a matter of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4)?
- 2. Whether the Court of Appeals applied the incorrect standard of review to EBCC's determinations, effectively intruding on the "significant role" afforded community municipal corporations by the legislature and warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) and RAP 13.4(b)(1).

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The legislature gave community municipal corporations a significant role in the local land use decisions.

The Washington State Legislature enacted Chapter 35.14 RCW in 1967, authorizing the formation of community municipal corporations. A community municipal corporation is a public entity governed by an elected community council, created when an area is annexed by a city. The statute gives these entities final authority over specific land use decisions, including comprehensive plans, zoning ordinances, and conditional use permits. RCW 35.14.040. "The obvious purpose of the statute is to place final decision making power in the community council where land use regulations affecting property within its jurisdiction are concerned." *City of Bellevue*, 138 Wn.2d at 945. The statute was intended to give elected representatives of local neighborhoods a "significant role in determining land use

regulations within the community municipal corporation." Id.

B. PSE's proposed project would severely impact community character while delivering little to no improved reliability.

In December 2011, PSE submitted an application to the City of Bellevue seeking several permits and approvals including a conditional use permit and shoreline conditional use permit. AR 16, 1714. The application sought permits for "a new transmission corridor" and to "construct a new 115 kiloVolt (kV) electrical transmission line to connect the existing Lake Hills and Phantom Lake Substations." AR 1714.

PSE was required to obtain a conditional use permit through the hearing examiner and City Council because the proposed transmission line was on a sensitive site designated in the comprehensive plan. LUC 20.20.255.C, D; AR 63, 1720. The project required a shoreline conditional use permit because construction impacted a Category I wetland, the most vulnerable category of wetlands. AR 23, 63, 80, 101.

The City's land use code provides broad criteria for the approval of a conditional use permit, aimed at ensuring the use is compatible with adjacent uses, the comprehensive plan, the City code, and the character of the area. LUC 20.30B.140 provides that the City may approve an application for a conditional use permit if:

A. The conditional use is consistent with the

- Comprehensive Plan; and
- B. The design is compatible with and responds to the existing or intended character, appearance, quality of development and physical characteristics of the subject property and immediate vicinity; and
- C. The conditional use will be served by adequate public facilities including streets, fire protection, and utilities; and
- D. The conditional use will not be materially detrimental to uses or property in the immediate vicinity of the subject property; and
- E. The conditional use complies with the applicable requirements of this Code.

While the consistency of a conditional use with some of the code provisions (e.g., the number of residential units permitted per acre) are objectively ascertainable, many of the criteria are broad questions, involving mixed considerations of fact, law, and policy, and leave room for the exercise of judgment and discretion. CP 491. Whether a use is "consistent" with the competing policies of a comprehensive plan; "detrimental" to uses in the immediate vicinity; and "compatible" with the "intended character, appearance, quality of development, and physical characteristics" of the property and its surroundings are not reducible to mathematical precision. These are questions involving the application of law to the facts, and because of the broad code criteria, necessarily involve the exercise of judgment and balancing of considerations.

1. PSE itself raised concerns about the reliability of the proposed transmission line.

The goal of the project was to "loop" two substations, the Lake Hills and Phantom Lake substations. Each of these substations is currently served by one transmission line. The project aimed to connect each substation to two transmission lines so that "if one line goes out, the other line can continue to feed the substation and customers." AR 6.

Although PSE's purpose in constructing the transmission line is to improve reliability, the Project ultimately approved by the City would "double circuit" a portion of the line, calling into question its efficacy in improving reliability. PSE initially planned for one half-mile segment of the line to run down SE 16th Street. AR 79, 696, 1254. Due to an existing power line on the north side of SE 16th Street, the project as initially proposed would have installed an additional transmission line on the south side of SE 16th Ave. to "loop" the line to the Phantom Lake substation. AR 1254, 420, 436. The result would have been power lines on both sides of SE 16th Street.

This independent, additional line on the SE 16th Ave. segment was, according to PSE, essential to improve reliability. AR 699. PSE explained that "co-locating" the line on the poles already existing on the north side of the street would reduce reliability: if one of the co-located poles were struck by a car or tree, both transmission lines would be down, and "you've entirely defeated the whole reason we are suggesting that we do this project in the

first place." CP 138 (emphasis added). In an August 2012 memorandum to the EBCC, PSE explained:

With a double-circuited line configuration, one outage event (such as a car hitting a power pole, a tree in the line or a lightning strike) can take both transmission lines out of service . . For this reason, double-circuiting the line on the north side of the street is unacceptable to us. The purpose of this project is to improve electric service reliability for our customers, and double-circuiting any portion of this line would provide no reliability benefit in the case of an incident affecting the double-circuit portion of the project.

AR 699 (emphasis added).

Despite these initial representations to EBCC and the community that co-locating the line would "provide no reliability benefit" if the double-circuited portion of line were impacted, AR 699, the approved project will co-locate the line along SE 16th Street. In addition, the 16th Street segment will not be constructed until the City completes a future public improvement project, which will happen at "some point in the next ten years." CP 306. In the words of a PSE representative, the failure to construct this segment "will impact reliability for some folks at Phantom Lake. It won't be as great as the completed project . . . It's a compromise[.]" CP 306.

City staff reviewed the conditional use permits and developed a staff report recommending the Hearing Examiner approve the permits with conditions. AR 76, 139. This staff report omits any mention of PSE's earlier

warnings that co-locating the project on SE 16th Street would defeat the purpose of the project and that co-locating "significantly increases outage risk, which decreases reliability benefits to our customers."

2. Overhead utilities would destroy aesthetic character of 148th Avenue

In selecting 148th Ave. for the longest leg of the transmission line, PSE chose to locate its 70-80 foot tall poles along a heavily wooded, scenic route. An attachment to the City staff report on the Project states:

148th Avenue is a corridor emblematic of Bellevue as [a] 'City in a Park.' It is a heavily treed parkway with a rich mix of mature evergreens and deciduous trees, wide medians, and frontage plantings that serve to protect the adjacent neighborhoods from the high volumes of traffic on the road, as well as to present a beautiful travel experience and attractive pedestrian environment. [AR 2400.]

The segments of NE 8th Ave. and 148th Ave. at issue have no overhead distribution lines. AR 1731. PSE's proposed transmission line would run through the Lake Hills Greenbelt, "the most significant natural feature within the project area," containing Larsen Lake, a blueberry farm, wetlands, and pedestrian trails. AR 1724, 558. PSE's project would remove 295 trees from along the route. AR 2402. While PSE proposed to replace

¹ Compare AR 2307 (staff report) with AR 723-724 (memorandum to EBCC stating double circuiting is "unacceptable" because it "would provide no reliability benefit in the case of an incident affecting the double-circuit portion of the project").

trees removed, due to the need to maintain clearance around the transmission lines, its efforts will not fully account for the changed visual appearance of the street. AR 88-89.

PSE had other potential routes to site the transmission line, all of which would have been less expensive and had a lesser impact on the greenbelt. The three potential routes PSE analyzed ran primarily down three different north-south avenues: 148th Ave. SE (the selected route), 156th Ave. SE, and 164th Ave. SE. AR 1254, 1289. Of these three potential routes, 148th was the longest, with a total length of 2.9 miles. AR 1731, 1289. The other two routes would also have traversed the greenbelt for a significantly shorter distance. AR 1731–32 (148th route crosses 2000 feet of the greenbelt; 156th route would cross 1,400 feet; 164th Ave. route would cross only 700 feet). 148th Ave. was the most expensive route, required the largest number of utility poles placed in wetland buffers, and due to the "large number of mature trees," selecting 148th "would also result in the greatest amount of tree removal and/or trimming." AR 1732, 1754, 553.

Despite these shortcomings, PSE selected the 148th Ave. route as its preferred alignment. One City staff member characterized 148th as an "extraordinarily bad alignment" choice, while another described the route as "ill-conceived, inconsistent with City policies" and said it "sacrifices the

aesthetics of nearly 3-miles of urban boulevards." AR 553-54, 890.

C. EBCC exercised its discretion to disapprove the conditional use permits.

The Hearing Examiner held a public hearing and issued a recommendation that the City Council approve the conditional use permit (CUP) and the shoreline conditional use permit (SCUP). AR 2158. After reviewing the Hearing Examiner's recommendations at three meetings, the City Council adopted Ordinance 6226, approving the CUP and SCUP. AR 2629. The City then transmitted the ordinance for EBCC's review.

Under RCW 35.14.040(3), the City Council's ordinance was not final until the EBCC approved or failed to disapprove it. The EBCC carefully considered the conditional use permit criteria in two public meetings, and its members expressed serious concerns about the project's compatibility with the comprehensive plan, area character and aesthetics, and the extent to which the Project would fail to improve reliability. *E.g.*, AR 2980–85. Based upon its findings that the project's benefits had not been proven while its detriments were unacceptable, the EBCC exercised its statutory authority to disapprove the City's ordinance. CP 20-21.

D. In denying PSE's LUPA petition, the Superior Court properly recognized the EBCC's significant role in local land use decisions.

Following the EBCC resolution disapproving the permits, PSE filed

a petition under the Land Use Petition Act (LUPA), ch. 36.70C RCW, challenging the EBCC's disapproval of the CUP and SCUP. Before ruling on the merits of the LUPA petition, the superior court addressed a matter of first impression; PSE filed a motion requesting the court rule that under Chapter 35.14 RCW, the EBCC lacked authority to disapprove shoreline conditional use permits. CP 535. The Court concluded that that EBCC "lacks jurisdiction to review shoreline conditional use permits." CP 680.

On the merits of the LUPA petition, the court concluded that PSE failed to meet its burden to establish EBCC erred under any of the LUPA standards of review. CP 499. The superior court's letter explaining the ruling states that although some of EBCC's findings "overstate" some points, "this does not invalidate the entirety of the Resolution. This Court cannot find that the EBCC committed any fatally erroneous interpretation or application of the law." CP 497. Judge Downing concluded that although the EBCC defers to the hearing examiner's findings of fact, "it does not abdicate its responsibilities as the law assures it a 'significant role in determining land use regulations within the community municipal corporation.'" CP 496.

PSE appealed the court's order denying its LUPA petition, and EBCC cross-appealed the Order on Resolution of Jurisdictional Issues. The

Court of Appeals ruled against EBCC on both issues, concluding that the EBCC did not have authority to review SCUPs under ch. 35.14 RCW and that PSE met its burden under LUPA to establish the EBCC erred.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Removing the EBCC's authority over shoreline conditional use permits is contrary to the statute and raises an issue of substantial public importance.

The Court of Appeals' conclusion that the EBCC lacks authority to review shoreline conditional use permits (SCUPs) was error. This case warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) as a matter of substantial public importance. It presents a question of first impression impacting the scope of community municipal corporations' statutory authority. Further, the Shoreline Management Act (SMA), ch. 90.58 RCW, explicitly requires local involvement in land use decisions affecting the shoreline, and the decision at issue impacts a category I wetland in EBCC's territory.² In addition, to the extent the Court of Appeals' ruling is contrary to this Court's determination of the legislature's intent in *City of Bellevue*, 138 Wn.2d 937 the decision warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

² See RCW 90.58.020 (calling for "concerted effort, jointly performed by federal, state, and local governments"); RCW 90.58.130 (requiring the Department of Ecology and local governments to "not only invite but actively encourage" public participation by all interested persons and all local government agencies).

RCW 35.14.040 provides EBCC with authority to review specific land use actions:

The adoption . . . of any ordinance or resolution applying to land . . . within any community council corporation shall become effective within such community municipal corporation . . . on approval by the community council . . . with respect to the following:

- (1) Comprehensive plan;
- (2) Zoning ordinance;
- (3) Conditional use permit, special exception or variance;
- (4) Subdivision ordinance;
- (5) Subdivision plat;
- (6) Planned unit development.

RCW 35.14.040 (emphasis added). As the appellate court itself recognized, the legislature spoke in general terms when enacting RCW 35.14.040. Opinion at 24 (describing the decisions EBCC has authority over as "similar to each other in the sense that they are terms generally applicable to land use."). Conditional use permits are a type of permit used when a particular use, because of its intensity or discord with other area uses, requires site specific review.³ In enacting RCW 35.14.040, the legislature used the broad term, "conditional use permit." A shoreline conditional use permit is a specific type, or subcategory, of conditional use permits.

³ See RCW 36.70.020(7) (defining conditional use as a use permitted in a zone but "permitted to locate only after review" imposing conditions to "make the use compatible with other permitted uses"); 3 EDWARD H. ZIEGLER, LAW OF ZONING AND PLANNING § 61.1 (2010) (conditional use allows "site-specific discretionary review of proposed uses").

The Court of Appeals reasoned that it could not add the word "shoreline" to RCW 35.14.040. But adding words to the statute is not necessary: the phrase "conditional use permit" includes all such permits, whether they are specific to the shoreline or not. The term "shoreline conditional use permit" is not some talismanic phrase, universally used: the SMA itself uses the term "permit for conditional uses" in describing a SCUP. RCW 90.58.100(5). While Bellevue's code does use the term "Shoreline Conditional Use Permit," LUC 20.30C, Bellevue's chosen phrasing is irrelevant to the intent of the state legislature.

Even if the plain text of the statute were ambiguous, and it were unclear whether shoreline conditional use permits were within its purview, the proper resort is to the legislative intent, to which this Court has already spoken. *In re Schneider*, 173 Wn.2d 353, 363, 268 P.3d 215 (2011) (court's fundamental purpose in construing statutes is to ascertain and carry out the intent of the legislature). Instead, the Court of Appeals' ruling ignores the legislative intent of Chapter 35.14 RCW, as determined by this court: the "obvious purpose" of Chapter 35.14 RCW is "to place final decision making power in the community council where land use regulation affecting property within its jurisdiction are concerned," and the statute gives EBCC's board members "a significant role" in local land use decision

making. City of Bellevue, 138 Wn.2d at 945.

In failing to construe the statue in light of this "obvious purpose," the Court of Appeals erred. Because this is inconsistent with this Court's ruling in *City of Bellevue*, and given the issues of public importance in preserving local shorelines, review is warranted. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

B. By undermining the EBCC's significant statutory role, the Court of Appeals' LUPA ruling conflicts with an opinion of this Court and raises an issue of substantial public importance.

The Court of Appeals' LUPA ruling suffers from a similar defect, intruding on the statutory authority of the EBCC. The Court's ruling again conflicts with the legislative intent as found by this Court in *City of Bellevue*, 138 Wn.2d 937. Further, limiting the authority of a municipal corporation created by the legislature specifically to give communities a voice in land use decisions is an issue of substantial public importance. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Under LUPA, the court of appeals "stands in the shoes of superior court and reviews the administrative decision on the record before the administrative tribunal, not the superior court record." *Julian v. City of Vancouver*, 161 Wn. App. 614, 623, 255 P.3d 763, (2011). As the LUPA petitioner, PSE had the burden of proving error under one of LUPA's six review standards. *Id.* The Court of Appeals' decision rests on its conclusion

that EBCC's decision was unsupported by substantial evidence under RCW 36.70C.130(1)(c). But the Court erroneously applied this standard to broad, policy-oriented questions well within the EBCC's discretion.

1. Under this Court's precedent, the EBCC has a "significant role" in local land use decisions.

In City of Bellevue, 138 Wn.2d 937, this Court interpreted RCW 35.14.040 to authorize a community municipal corporation to independently review city decisions. The Court stated RCW 35.14.040 "provides a community council with authority to independently determine whether to approve or disapprove land use legislation . . . in keeping with the Legislature's intent to allow local level decision-making." Id. at 945. This Court held, "Where there is room for discretion under the comprehensive plan, the statute clearly allows the Community Council to exercise authority to approve or disapprove discretionary decisions by the city council." Id.

This Court specifically rejected the City's arguments limiting the EBCC's authority to correcting mistakes made by the City Council:

[T]he [City's] assumption seems to be that the City's decision must have been wrong in some respect before the Community Council can exercise its authority to disapprove land use regulations within the purview of RCW 35.14.040. This is an erroneous assumption. . . [I]t implies that the only authority granted by the statute is to review the City's actions. Nothing in the statutory language indicates that the Community Council has such limited authority or that the Community Council acts as a reviewing body. Also, such a

reading would mean that if the City's action were lawfully within its authority and discretion, the Community Council could do no more than 'rubber stamp' the City's land use legislation.

Id. at 946. The Court of Appeals' ruling is contrary to this holding. Moreover, given the clear legislative intent of local participation in municipal land use decisions and the impact of the PSE project on the community, this case presents an issue of substantial public importance.

2. EBCC's determination that the project was inconsistent with the comprehensive plan was not clearly erroneous.

Contrary to this "significant role" envisioned by the legislature and articulated by this Court, the Court of Appeals applied an incorrect standard of review which failed to allow EBCC to exercise its discretion.

The EBCC determined that the project was inconsistent with the comprehensive plan, and that it would be materially detrimental to uses in the vicinity, two criteria required to grant a CUP under Bellevue's code. The Court of Appeals concluded these determinations were not supported by substantial evidence. In doing so, the Court committed several legal errors which constrained the "significant role" of the EBCC.

First, the Court of Appeals faulted several "findings" in the EBCC's resolution for failing to specify which comprehensive plan policies the PSE project was inconsistent with. *See* Opinion at 6-7, 8, 11-12 (discussing

Examiner to craft careful findings in support of its decision; accordingly, some of the EBCC's findings were admittedly inartful. However, read as a whole, the resolution clearly states which comprehensive plan policies the project is inconsistent with. Paragraph 10 of EBCC's resolution states:

This conditional use is inconsistent with the Comprehensive Plan provisions noted below which repeatedly refer to Bellevue's Commitment to a City in a Park, and developing the Urban Boulevard and Enhanced Rights of Way:

- 1. UT-45 page 209 [Avoid, when reasonably possible, locating overhead line in greenbelts and open spaces];
- 2. UT-53 page 210 [Require all utility facilities to be aesthetically compatible];
- 3. UT-19 page 212 [Preserve trees as a component of the skyline to retain the image of a "City in a Park"];
- 4. UT-42 page 212 [Design boulevards to be distinctive from other streets and to reinforce the image of Bellevue as a "city in a park," both within the ROW and on adjacent private development, utilize features such as gateways, street trees, median plantings, special lighting, separated and wider sidewalks, crosswalks, seating, special signs, street name, landscaping, decorative paving patterns and public art];
- 5. S-WI-44 Utilities page 214 [Utilities should be provided to serve the present and future needs of the Subarea in a way that enhances the visual quality of the community (where practical)].⁴

Second, the Court of Appeals erroneously reviewed these

⁴ CP 452. In its findings, the EBCC abbreviated the text of the policies. For the Court's convenience, the full text of the policies is set out above. See AR 3000; CP 410.

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