RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLERK'S OFFICE

3/31/2017 3:07 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

SUPREME COURT NO. 94242-1

Court of Appeals Nos. 74464-0-II & 74465-8-I (consolidated)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PUGET SOUND ENERGY, INC., a Washington corporation,

Appellant/Cross-Respondent

v.

EAST BELLEVUE COMMUNITY COUNCIL,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant,

and

CITY OF BELLEVUE,

Respondent.

PSE'S ANSWER TO THE EBCC'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Erin L. Anderson, WSBA No. 23282 Rita V. Latsinova, WSBA No. 24447 Sara A. Leverette, WSBA No. 44183 STOEL RIVES LLP 600 University Street, Suite 3600 Seattle, WA 98101 T: 206.624.0900

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

III. ARGUMENT

The EBCC's petition suffers from the same – and additional – defects identified by the Court of Appeals and does not warrant this Court's review.

A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Followed RCW 35.14.040(3)

RCW 35.14.040(3) was enacted in 1967. It listed "conditional use permit[s], special exception[s] or variance[s]" among the land use decisions over which community councils have approval authority. RCW Chapter 35.14 was amended in 1985 and 1993. Neither amendment added to the list of land use decisions community councils can approve. The EBCC does not argue that the RCW 35.14.040(3) is ambiguous, yet it insists that the legislature left shoreline conditional use permits out of RCW 35.14.040(3) inadvertently and invites the court to add words the legislature left out.

The Court of Appeals was "not persuaded." Appendix Ex. A at 24. It followed the familiar principle that when the statute is unambiguous, the legislature's intent is "solely derived 'from the statute's plain language," *id.* at 23 (citing *Segura v. Cabrera*, 184 Wn.2d 587, 591, 362 P.3d 1278 (2015)). It also followed the maxim that "specific inclusions exclude

implication," id. at 23 (citing Wash. Nat. Gas Co. v. Pub. Utils. Dist. No. 1 of Snohomish County, 77 Wn.2d 94, 98, 459 P.2d 633 (1969)).

The Court observed that shoreline conditional use permits and conditional use permits have "distinct statutory underpinnings." Appendix Ex. A at 25. Among them:

Shoreline conditional use permits are governed by the provisions of Chapter 90.58 RCW [the Shorelines Management Act]. That statutory framework imposes rigorous requirements that reflect, in our view, a primacy of state interests over local interests with respect to Washington's shorelines.

On the other hand, conditional use permits are governed by the provisions of chapter 35.63 RCW ... enacted well before chapter 90.58 RCW ... [T]he chapter [35.63 RCW] focuses on local interests.

Id. The Court of Appeals concluded that the two statutory frameworks are "sufficiently distinct in focus" to "undercut" the EBCC's argument that "shoreline conditional use permits' are merely a subset of 'conditional use permits." Id. Accordingly, it declined "to add words to the statute that the legislature did not." Id. at 25-26.

The legislative intent behind Chapter 35.14 RCW was to vest community councils with a "significant role" in certain – but not all – local land-use decisions. *City of Bellevue v. E. Bellevue Cmty. Council*, 138 Wn.2d 937, 945, 983 P.2d 602 (1999). Nothing in the Court of Appeals' decision undermines this intent. Washington courts have repeatedly held, including in a case involving the EBCC, that community councils'

"significant role" goes no further than the "explicit grant of authority" by the legislature. City of Bellevue v. E. Bellevue Cmty Mun. Corp., 119 Wn. App. 405, 410, 81 P.3d 148 (2003) (emphasis added). See also Sammamish Cmty. Council v. City of Bellevue, 108 Wn. App. 46, 49, 29 P.3d 728 (2001) (community councils "possess only such powers which have been expressly conferred.") (emphasis added). Among the land use decisions the legislature chose not to expressly confer to community councils' approval authority are, without limitation, administrative conditional use permits, shoreline variances, critical area land use permits — and shoreline conditional use permits. This does not diminish the "significant role" community councils have in approving land use decisions specifically listed in RCW 35.14.040(3).

"Specific inclusions exclude implication." Appendix Ex. A at 23 (citation omitted). The Court of Appeals correctly declined to add words to RCW 35.14.040(3) and concluded that "[w]hether the statute should be amended to expressly include shoreline conditional use permits is a question more properly left to the legislature to decide." *Id.* at 26. There is no basis for review.

B. The EBCC's Alternative Basis for Review is Not Properly Before the Court

The second issue the EBCC presents for review – that the Court of Appeals applied the wrong standard to its review of the EBCC's

determination that the Project was inconsistent with the comprehensive plan and the uses in the vicinity – is not properly before this Court. The EBCC waived it by defending its "findings" underlying the same determinations under RCW 36.70C.130(1)(c), as supported by substantial evidence, the standard it now attacks as erroneous. See Appendix Ex. B at 32-34 (listing among its "findings" the references to "urban boulevards," the lack of visible utilities on sections of 148th Ave., and evidence that the project would take four to six months to complete). Having not objected to the Court of Appeals' review of the findings underlying its determination of inconsistency with the comprehensive plan and detriment to the vicinity under RCW 36.70C.130(1)(c), the EBCC cannot ask this Court to review an "error" it invited. See RAP 2.5(a). See also Smith v. Shannon, 100 Wn.2d 26, 37, 666 P.2d 351 (1983) ("The reason for this rule is to afford the [lower] court an opportunity to correct any error, thereby avoiding unnecessary appeals ..."); Vigil v. Spokane County, 42 Wn. App. 796, 799, 714 P.2d 692 (1986) (appellant's concession below that a three-year statute of limitations applied precluded an argument on review that a two-year statute applied). See also 2A Karl B. Tegland, Washington Practice: Rules Practice, RAP 2.5, Author's Comments, at 212-13 (8th Ed. 2014) ("the opposing parties should have an opportunity ... to respond to possible claims of error ... [raised below] rather than facing newly-asserted errors or new theories for the first time on appeal.").

In any event, Resolution 550 fails even under **RCW** 36.70C.130(1)(d). The EBCC has abandoned the argument it advanced below that "the court [is required] to defer to the EBCC findings, not the findings of the Hearing Examiner." Appendix Ex. B at 30 (emphasis added). The EBCC now correctly states that "under LUPA's substantial evidence review, the court defers to the last tribunal exercising fact-finding authority, in this case the hearing examiner. ... This standard favors upholding the Hearing Examiner's decision, even where evidence exists to support the EBCC's findings." Petition at 19 (emphasis added). The EBCC also agrees that a "lack of substantial evidence" requires more than identifying evidence "that might support a different conclusion." *Id.*

These concessions are fatal to Resolution 550 whether it is reviewed under RCW 36.70C.130(1)(c) or RCW 36.70C.130(1)(d). Whatever the standard, the Hearing Examiner's evidentiary findings are entitled to deference. *Miller v. City of Bainbridge Island*, 111 Wn. App. 152, 161, 43 P.3d 1250 (2002) (on review of a land use decisions that present mixed questions of law and fact, appellate courts review the law independently "and apply it to the facts found by the hearing examiner"). The Court of Appeals identified specific evidence credited by the Hearing Examiner that supports the conclusion that the project is consistent with the comprehensive plan and not detrimental to the nearby uses. The evidence includes, without limitation:

- "[T]he hearing examiner's decision ... cites Bellevue's detailed staff report as well as attachment E to the report, which is a detailed comprehensive plan policy analysis." (Addressing ¶¶ 3 and 10 of Resolution 550 and consistency of the conditional use permit with LUC 20.30B.140(A));
- "Specifically, the hearing examiner cites Bellevue's staff report, hearing testimony, the Conceptual Mitigation Plan, and other evidence to support his decision. ... Further, Bellevue points out that its comprehensive plan 'does not use the term 'urban boulevard' nor does it designate 148th Avenue as an 'urban boulevard. Brief of Respondent City of Bellevue at 2, n. 2." ... "Nothing that has been cited to us shows that the comprehensive plan bars electric lines from 148th Avenue." (Addressing ¶ 9 of Resolution 550 and consistency with LUC 20.30B.140(B), which requires that a project's design be "compatible with ... the existing or intended character ... of the subject property and immediate vicinity");
- "The hearing examiner . . . concluded that the 'conditional use will not be materially detrimental to uses or property in the immediate vicinity of the subject property.' conclusion is based on Bellevue's staff report, the final MDNS – which was not the subject of appeal – and other evidence in the record. ... The record shows that construction for this project will take between four to six months to complete. Bellevue's staff report states that the project's traffic impacts 'will be temporary and occurring only during the construction phase.' Additionally, the construction will not occur in the same location for four to six months because the transmission line covers 2.89 miles. The evidence is substantial in demonstrating that there will be no materially detrimental impacts 'to uses or property in the immediate vicinity of the subject property' from the PSE project." (Discussing LUC 20.30B.140(D)).
- "[T]he hearing examiner cited Bellevue's staff report, testimony and a letter from PSE's engineer, and a reliability study, which recommended an additional transmission line to the existing substations." (Discussing LUC 20.20.255(E)(3), which states that an applicant "shall demonstrate that an

operational need exists that requires the location or expansion at the proposed site.)"

Appendix Ex. A at 7, 9-12, 13-15, 17.

As the EBCC now concedes, the Court of Appeals correctly deferred to these and other factual findings by the Hearing Examiner. The EBCC also concedes that the evidence credited by the Hearing Examiner was substantial. The EBCC's attempt to challenge the conclusions that flow from the Hearing Examiner's findings necessarily fails. Its repeated references to "a City in a Park," "Urban Boulevards" and "Enhanced Rights of Way," cannot change this result, *see* Petition at 18 and Appendix Ex. B. at 33. As the City explained below:

Simply put, nothing in the City's Comprehensive Plan prevents electrical facilities from being sited from being sited along 148th Avenue.

. .

The City's Comprehensive Plan does not use the term 'urban boulevard' not does it designate 148^{th} Avenue as an 'urban boulevard.' Instead, the City has a an urban boulevard initiative. ... 148^{th} Avenue is not part of the urban boulevard initiative.

Appendix Ex. D at 2 and note 2.

Nothing in the Court of Appeals' thorough analysis of the disputed paragraphs in Resolution 550 encroached on the EBCC's authority to approve local decisions within its jurisdiction. The EBCC's "significant role" in the approval of local land use decisions does not allow it to

disregard substantial evidence credited by the Hearing Examiner. There is no basis for review.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, the EBCC's petition for review should be denied.